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MEMORANDUM FROM STAFF 

From: Oksana Polhuy, Planning Administrator 
To: Lapel Town Council 
Date: 07/15/2024 
RE:  Clark’s Final Plat 

PLAT-2024-02, Clark’s Final Plat 

Note on the Zoning District 

Oksana was informed that the reason for stalling this application at the Council level is the zoning district. 
There is a belief that the plat should have been reviewed according to the Industrial zoning district 
standards due to the recommendation of the Comprehensive Plan for this lot to be Industrial. 

It’s zoned Agricultural and the subdivision (platting) procedures and requirements must follow the 
existing zoning district’s regulations. The recommended use in the CP isn’t considered during the platting 
process.  

Side note on CP: staff has a revised Comprehensive Plan with an updated Land Use recommendation 
map, the revised copy as of December 2022. Exhibit 1 shows that the recommended use for this property 
is Agricultural.  

Administrative Plat Application Steps per Lapel’s UDO 

This is an administrative subdivision because it’s located in the Agricultural zoning district and is split into 
the maximum permitted number of lots (5) per V 12.1.3.A.ii (p. 16). The application and review steps are 
described on pages 18-20 of the UDO, Volume 12. 

In short, the Administrative Plats go through the following steps: 

Figure 1. Lapel's Zoning Map. Location of Clark's Subdivision 

https://irp-cdn.multiscreensite.com/65a760a0/files/uploaded/Volume_12.pdf


Page 2 of 2 

1. Primary Plat (or as Lapel’s UDO calls it, a “Rural Concept Development Plan”). This one is 
reviewed and approved by staff and Plat Committee, and then signed by PC’s president and 
secretary.  

2. Final Plat. This one is reviewed and approved by staff and Plat Committee, and signed by PC’s 
president and secretary. At this point, the applicant should have received approval from Madison 
County Drainage Board. 

The Town Council isn’t mentioned in the Administrative Plat procedure. It is mentioned only as the 
agency that reviews road cuts if those are needed. However, since only the Town Council can accept 
dedicated ROW or public improvements, it’s still necessary to involve the Council at the end of the Final 
Plat step if the ROW is required to be dedicated. 

Application History 

Clark’s subdivision went through the following steps: 

1. PLAT-2023-04. Primary Plat. It was reviewed and approved by staff and Plat Committee at the 
end of 2023. (Lapel’s UDO calls this step “Rural Concept Development Plan” (see page 18 of 
Lapel’s UDO, Chapter 12, V 12.1.3 Administrative Subdivision). A copy of approved Primary plat is 
attached in Exhibit 2. 

2. Notice. State law (IC 36-7-4-701(d)) permits administrative subdivisions to be reviewed without a 
public hearing as along as the applicant sends out mailed notices and publishes a newspaper 
notice within 10 days of the Primary Plat approval to let the surrounding property owners that 
they have the right to appeal this approval. The applicant completed this step in December 2023 
(see attached Exhibit 3). No requests for appeal were maid.  

3. Drainage Approval. The applicant has received County’s drainage approval in January 2024. See 
attached Exhibit 4. 

4. PLAT-2024-02. Final Plat. The plat is at this stage (Exhibit 5). It was reviewed by staff, Plat 
Committee and Plan Commission in May, 2024, and got approval from all of them.  

a. ROW Dedication. While Council doesn’t have the authority to deny/approve subdivision 
plats, it does have a role in the platting process as the agency that considers dedication 
of public improvements, public easements for utilities, or right-of-way dedications and 
such. This plat application requires dedication of 50 feet of ROW along the County Road 
1000. 

i. ROW amount. Hamilton County has jurisdiction over this road, so staff believes 
that when it comes to the requirement of how much ROW to dedicate, Hamilton 
County’s Thoroughfare Plan recommendation should be used. This property is 
required to dedicate 50 feet ROW along the County Road 1000, or “Atlantic 
Road” as Hamilton County calls it.  

ii. Council’s role. However, the dedication of this land is done to Lapel, and the 
Council’s role is to consider acceptance of dedicated right-of-way. See Exhibit 6 
with emails from Dave Lucas, Hamilton County’s traffic engineer, that confirms 
that Hamilton County Commission doesn’t need to accept this dedication per 
their legal counsel.   

Staff’s Recommendation 

Staff recommends acceptance of the ROW as depicted on the plat. 

https://irp-cdn.multiscreensite.com/65a760a0/files/uploaded/Volume_12.pdf
https://iga.in.gov/laws/2023/ic/titles/36#36-7-4-701
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The information in this email may contain confidential information and is intended solely for the attention and use of the 
named addressee(s). It must not be disclosed to any person(s) without authorization. If you are not the intended recipient, or a 
person responsible for delivering it to the intended recipient, you are not authorized to, and must not disclose, copy, distribute, 
or retain this message or any part of it. If you have received this communication in error, please notify the sender immediately. 

 

The information in this email may contain confidential information and is intended solely for the attention and use of the 
named addressee(s). It must not be disclosed to any person(s) without authorization. If you are not the intended recipient, or a 
person responsible for delivering it to the intended recipient, you are not authorized to, and must not disclose, copy, distribute, 
or retain this message or any part of it. If you have received this communication in error, please notify the sender immediately. 
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Date:  January 10, 2024 
To:  Town of Lapel 
From:  Madison County Drainage Board 
 
Project: Clark Homestead 
 
Members of the Town of Lapel: 

 
     X      The above stated has been approved by the Madison County Drainage Board.  

This project has no pending issues with the Drainage Board.  This project is 
forwarded to the Planning Commission for their action.  Plat approved on the 
following conditions: Mutual drain easement across private drive to be on plat; an 
8-inch tile to be supplied to all lots; and all infrastructure must be complete before 
any further construction. 

 
              The above stated project has submitted conceptual plans that have been 

received and accepted by the Madison County Drainage Board. 
 
              The above stated project has been submitted to the Madison County Drainage 

Board for its approval.  This project has pending issues with the Drainage Board.  
The project’s developer is cooperating with the Drainage Board during the review 
process.  At this time, a final decision has not been made on the approval of this 
project.  However, the Drainage Board feels this project can be forwarded to the 
Planning Commission for their approval.  This project should not be sent to the 
County Commissioners for a hearing until the Drainage Board makes a final 
decision. 

 
              The above stated project has been submitted to the Madison County Drainage 

Board for its approval.  This project has pending issues with the Drainage Board.  
The project’s developer is cooperating with the Drainage Board during the review 
process.  At this time, a final decision has not been made on the approval for this 
project.  However, the Drainage Board feels this project can be forwarded to the 
Planning Commission for approval of the project’s primary plat.  This project 
should not be sent to the Planning Commission or County Commissioners for 
final approval, until the Drainage Board makes a final decision. 

  
              The above stated project has been reviewed and denied. 
 

        
       President 
       Madison County Drainage Board 

EXHIBIT 4
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Polhuy, Oksana

From: David E. Lucas <David.Lucas@hamiltoncounty.in.gov>
Sent: Friday, October 27, 2023 3:29 PM
To: Polhuy, Oksana
Subject: RE: Atlantic Road R/W Question

Categories: Lapel

[EXTERNAL MESSAGE] This message has originated outside of ms consultants. Do not open attachments or 
click on links from unknown or unexpected senders. 

 
Oksana, 
 
According to our Assistant County Attorney Hamilton County will not need to sign off on the plat.  Please just keep me in 
the loop and send a copy of the recorded plat.   
I can send it to our Tax and Mapping Department to draw in the R/W parcel. 
 
I am the TAC contact for County Highway if you need input in the future. 
 
Thank you for your help on this! 
 

 

 David Lucas | Project Coordinator 
Hamilton County Highway Department 
1700 S. 10th St. | Noblesville, IN 46060 

david.lucas@hamiltoncounty.in.gov 

317.773.7770 - office 

  

 

 
 

 

  

 
 

From: Polhuy, Oksana <opolhuy@msconsultants.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, October 25, 2023 4:24 PM 
To: David E. Lucas <David.Lucas@hamiltoncounty.in.gov> 
Subject: RE: Atlantic Road R/W Question 
 

   

Hello David, 
 
Thank you for the info. That’s what I was looking for. 
 
And just to clarify, would this application go only through the local plat review since it’s in Lapel’s jurisdiction, 
but would have space for Hamilton County commissioners to sign it? Or would your representative still want to 

 CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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be somehow involved? Maybe like a TAC member of a sort? There is no official TAC committee, but I ask 
people relevant to the application, for input. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Oksana Polhuy, AICP 
ms consultants, inc | engineers, architects, planners 
115 West Washington St., Suite 1310, Indianapolis, Indiana 46204-4618 
 
p: 317-566-0050 Ext. 15124 
f: 317-566-0052 
e: opolhuy@msconsultants.com 
Connect: Facebook | Twitter | LinkedIn | ms Blog 
 

 
Sign up to receive our email newsletter 
 
Notice of Confidentiality: **This e-mail and any of its attachments may contain proprietary information, which is privileged, confidential, or subject to copyright 
belonging to ms consultants, inc. This e-mail is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed. If you are not the intended recipient of 
this e-mail, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution, copying, or action taken in relation to the contents of and/or attachments to this e-mail is 
strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and permanently delete the original and any 
copy of this e-mail and any printout.** 

 
From: David E. Lucas <David.Lucas@hamiltoncounty.in.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, October 25, 2023 1:44 PM 
To: Polhuy, Oksana <opolhuy@msconsultants.com> 
Subject: Atlantic Road R/W Question 
 

[EXTERNAL MESSAGE] This message has originated outside of ms consultants. Do not open attachments or 
click on links from unknown or unexpected senders. 

 
Oksana, 
 
Atlantic Road is within Hamilton County jurisdiction.  Our R/W for Atlantic Road is a 50’ half with an additional 10’ within 
500’ of an intersection.   
 
I have attached a sheet that details our dedication statement for plats.   
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have additional questions. 
 

 

 David Lucas | Project Coordinator 
Hamilton County Highway Department 
1700 S. 10th St. | Noblesville, IN 46060 

david.lucas@hamiltoncounty.in.gov 

317.773.7770 - office 
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